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The Spaniards execute the last Inca emperor, Tupac Amaru, in Cuzco in 1572, as depicted by Guaman Poma de Ayala, an Inca noble and scribe, to appeal to the Spanish King in the early seventeenth century. Tupac Amaru’s death was preceded by the loss of Vilcabamba, the Inca city that disappeared into the jungle until the twentieth century. (The Royal Library, Denmark)
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All men dream: but not equally. Those who dream by night in the dusty recesses of their mind wake in the day to find that it was vanity: but the dreamers of the day are dangerous men, for they may act their dreams with open eyes, to make it possible.

—T. E. Lawrence, Seven Pillars of Wisdom: A Triumph
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Map of the Vilcabamba, the region in which Hiram Bingham searched for the last cities of the Incas between 1909 and 1915. (Map by Emily Davis Adams)
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South America, 1909, the scene of Hiram Bingham’s great successes and failures. (Map by Emily Davis Adams)


Preface

Beneath the Hat

South America, 1936. A mountain looms in the distance. A small group of men carve their way through the thick jungle. A wide hat hides the face of their leader, save for his handsome, unshaven chin. His Peruvian guides are hesitant, but he is determined. He pauses, gently unfolds a disintegrating map from the pocket of his leather jacket and studies it in the dim light breaking through the canopy. A guide behind him pulls a gun, but the leader spins around and cracks his whip, knocking the weapon away. The guide runs, and our hero, an American archaeologist, steps into the light.

The party continues its march into the jungle. Behind a wall of vines they find what they’ve been looking for: a temple built by a people lost long before Columbus. Bats explode from its black and forbidding entry, and the Indian porters run away in fright. The archaeologist and the remaining guide enter. There are traps to swing over and the corpse of a previous treasure hunter who failed. It is all prelude to the temple’s center, where a small gold statue sits on a stone pedestal. The guide holds his breath, and the archaeologist replaces the artifact with a bag of sand. They breathe easy for a moment; but then, with a rumble and snap, the ruins come tumbling down.

This, of course, is the opening scene of the 1981 movie Raiders of the Lost Ark, and the debonair American archaeologist is Henry “Indiana” Jones Jr., played by Harrison Ford. Nearly three decades and three sequels later, we’ve seen Indy fight Nazis, Thuggee murder cults, and Communist clairvoyants for some of the most fantastic artifacts imaginable. But if there was an iconic moment to the series, then this is it: Indiana Jones running from a massive rolling boulder, walls falling around him, all without losing his hat. It is one of the most exciting introductions in movie history, and by the time Indy escapes an angry jungle tribe by swinging on a vine, he has lost the gold icon but captured our hearts.

I idolized him for most of my childhood. By the time I reached high school, I knew I wanted to become an archaeologist. I applied to Yale University, wrote my college essay on Indiana Jones, and was lucky enough to be admitted. But before I headed to New Haven, my father gave me a present that took me a little closer to reality. It was a t-shirt he had bought from Yale’s Peabody Museum of Natural History, where I had spent many hours staring at dinosaurs when I was seven. The shirt featured another star from the museum’s history: Machu Picchu, the beautiful “lost city of the Incas,” hidden in the Andes Mountains of the South American country of Peru. And on its back was the image of the tall historian who had made it famous: Hiram Bingham III.

Born in 1875, over his 81 years he was variously a professor, writer, pilot, and U.S. senator. Hiram uncovered the ruins of Machu Picchu in 1911; in 1912, he exported its skulls, bones, beautiful ceramics, and precious metal artifacts to Yale. The cotton-and-ink face staring out at me gave no indication as to the roots of his restless ambition, but I saw something of Indy in him: the jaunty stance, the cocked hat, the sandy hair, and defiant gaze, teetering between interest and impatience. He could shout, as Ford did in Indiana Jones and the Last Crusade, “That belongs in a museum!” I was unsurprised when I later learned that in crafting the look of Indiana Jones, the crew of Raiders of the Lost Ark may have drawn from a little-known Charlton Heston movie named Secret of the Incas, which in turn drew from Bingham’s life and work at Machu Picchu.1 These two icons of archaeology shared the same DNA—though at the time, I thought that Indiana Jones was the exciting, full-color version and Hiram Bingham was the sepiatoned, boring reality.

At Yale I learned how wrong I was. In 2002, when I was a senior and a Latin American Studies major, I began research in Bingham’s papers, archived at Yale. There, I made my own discoveries. Most accounts of Machu Picchu’s revelation— a word preferable to discovery, in many ways—began with Bingham’s quest to find the last cities of the Incas, the jungle-clad settlements where the most impressive pre-Columbian empire in the Americas took refuge from the Spanish in the sixteenth century. These accounts climaxed with Bingham’s arrival at Machu Picchu. Only epilogues suggested what he unearthed in his excavations. Left unexplored was a full explanation of how he did it and why he quit exploring altogether in 1915. From Bingham’s journals, manuscripts, and previously unexamined letters in Spanish, a far more dramatic story emerged, one full of betrayals, deaths, political intrigues, smuggling, and angry locals. It only seemed like a story of simple, heroic exploration from a distance. Beneath the hat, it was nothing less than a lost history of the Spanish conquest of Peru and its recovery through exploration; a descent into a forgotten chapter of America’s often colonial, sometimes imperial relationship with the other peoples and countries of the hemisphere; and, most pressingly, a question as thorny as the vines that held Machu Picchu together: Who can own and interpret the indigenous past?

This last question is a timely one. In 2008, Peru sued Yale for the return of the artifacts and human remains that Bingham excavated from Machu Picchu. Peru claimed it had loaned Yale the collection of silver jewelry, ceramic jars, potsherds, skulls and bones and was now demanding its return. Yale called Peru’s claim “stale and meritless” and asserted that now it owned the collection.2 Peru said Yale had 46,000 pieces; Yale said it had 5,415.

Between these two distant poles, I have attempted to find the truth. After I graduated from college, I received a Fulbright Fellowship to research the story using archives and sources in Peru. In the year or so that I lived in Cuzco, the former capital of the Incas, I discussed the controversy with historians, archaeologists, tour guides, and taxi drivers of all ethnicities, who thoroughly challenged my notions of what Bingham’s “discovery” meant. When I told one guide where I had gone to school, he said, “So maybe you can tell us where the gold is,” echoing the legend that Bingham had stripped Machu Picchu not only of its graves but its supposed Inca treasure as well.

This book is my reply. Like the khipu—the Inca recording device, a long cord hanging with colorful strings whose every knot represented a different event or number—this book ties together several stories. The first is the oldest and explains why sixteenth-century Spaniards chased the heir to a once-mighty empire into the jungles of Peru and what was lost when the Spanish finished him off. The second thread explains why a twentieth-century missionary’s son fell in love with an Inca ruin named the “Cradle of Gold” and then spent his career as an explorer trying to resurrect ruins whose secrets told the lost history of the Incas. His story closes with the monumental fight that ended his career as an explorer and changed how Peruvians viewed their material past and cultural heritage. The final thread pulls us to the present, asking what Hiram Bingham’s revelation means today and how Machu Picchu’s artifacts—and their ownership—continue to challenge the Americas’ understanding of history and archaeology. When is a dig a political statement? When is a trowel a sword?

This story is also deeply personal, for reasons that will become clear. Any mistakes in the text that follow are thus my own, but I am indebted to others for almost everything else. I owe my greatest debt, however, to the two figures that fight for the heart of this story. First is the explorer Hiram Bingham, whose best self, the part that sought to understand another culture, was inextricably linked to the part of him that needed to possess. And second is a Peruvian anthropologist and public intellectual named Luis E. Valcárcel, who was first inspired by Bingham’s explorations, then grew more critical of the North American’s actions.

To say why—and whether his suspicions were justified—would ruin the story that follows, full of snakes, heroism, moral dilemmas, broken hearts, looting, shipwrecks, a treasure, skulls and bones, and perhaps even a curse. And unlike the adventures of Indiana Jones, it’s all too true.

A NOTE ON IMAGES

In crafting this book, I was also inspired by the great Inca scribe Guaman Poma de Ayala, whose illustrated seventeenth-century manuscript Nueva corónica y buen gobierno has become an icon of indigenous resistance and adaptation in colonial Peru. This book begins with one of his images and I include another in the book’s photo insert, but I also asked an artist and friend, Emily Davis Adams, to create images that depict Bingham’s travails in a manner in keeping with Guaman Poma’s aesthetic, if not his sharp political commentary. These images preface this book’s four parts and, hopefully, amplify the echoes between Bingham’s story and the conquest he tried to uncover.


Cradle of Gold


Introduction

The Last City of the Incas

The Sixteenth-Century Conquest

Dawn broke over South America, rolling from east to west, sliding up beaches and rivers, pushing through the treetops and vines of the Amazon jungle until it hit the Andes, the soaring mountains that chain the continent together. Soon the sun would spill over its peaks and rush toward the beaches of the Pacific. But for a few precious minutes the light lingered on the Andes’ eastern slopes, and in one steep valley, in a land called Peru, it woke two thousand Spanish and Indian nobles, soldiers, and slaves. With curses and prayers, they strapped on their armor and prepared for battle. It was June 24, 1572, the feast of St. John the Baptist, but the expedition hoped that it would soon be known as the day that the nightmarish conquest of the Incas finally ended.

It had been forty years since Francisco Pizarro and his 168 conquistadors left Central America and sailed down the western coast of the southern continent. When they landed in Peru, they faced the largest, wealthiest, most powerful indigenous empire of the Americas—the Incas. Their domain stretched from modern-day Chile to Colombia, from the Pacific to the Amazon, tied together with roads, canals, fortresses, and temples. Through force of arms and savvy alliances, the Spaniards captured and executed their emperor, Atahualpa, and conquered their capital, the gold-covered city of Cuzco.1 But Atahualpa’s successor, his fierce brother named Manco, rebelled against Spanish rule, centered in the new colonial capital of Lima, on the coast. In 1536, Manco retreated to this remote kingdom north of Cuzco. By 1539 he had built a new Inca capital—a place to worship their deity, the sun, and their ancestors in peace. Its name was Vilcabamba, “The Plain of the Sun.”2

But it was not to be. Manco died, and his sons kept up the fight, arguing that the Spanish conquest was illegitimate and that their family had been wronged. After years of negotiations and skirmishes, the Spaniards had enough of the resistance. In April 1572, the viceroy, the Spanish king’s representative, declared a “war of fire and blood.” He organized an expedition led by Spaniards, but supported by indigenous allies and Inca mestizos—people born of Inca and Spanish unions, consensual or not—who sought survival and recognition within colonial Cuzco rather than independence.

The expedition had three objectives: to reach and raze Vilcabamba; to confiscate its treasure and end the Incas’ sun worship; and to carry Manco’s son, the Incas’ eighteen-year-old emperor and leader of their religion, back to Cuzco for judgment. His name was Tupac Amaru, Quechua for “Royal Serpent,” referring to the great two-headed snake that brought rain and world-shattering change. To capture him would be difficult. To get this far the Spaniards had fended off ambushes of spears, poisoned spines, and falling boulders. The landscape had grown terrifying. Here, the Andes met the Amazon: massive mountains gave way to precipitous cliffs and ravines, forest-choked valleys, and rivers that drowned the unwary. Jaguars and vipers lurked; vines and thorns ripped at clothes half-rotting from the rain and mist. The expedition had abandoned their horses and crawled along cliffs. The bravest strapped cannons to their backs, hoping for a greater share of the loot to come. The trees hid colonies of ferocious biting ants.3 And then there were the waiting Incas and their hidden allies, the fierce jungle peoples who fought with poison arrows and, the Incas claimed, feasted on their victims. The Incas sacrificed guinea pigs to tell the future and left their disemboweled remains along the path, unnerving the Spaniards. Only through luck and an opportune defection among the Incas’ captains had the expedition gotten this far. Vilcabamba would be the Incas’ last stand, and the Spaniards were sure they would fight.

It was time. The sun cleared the ridge, and the men began to sweat. The general ordered the Europeans and Indians who had allied with the colonizers into columns led by captains and flag-bearers. The priests blessed the soldiers, and they began to march. The path rose, widened, and yielded a view of the river on their right. A massive Inca staircase led to an usnu, a ceremonial platform on which the Incas’ priests paid tribute to the sun. It was midmorning, and the sun spilled over the expeditionaries’ shoulders, illuminating the forbidden jungle refuge below.

But Vilcabamba was not a glittering imperial capital teeming with soldiers. It was sacked, abandoned, and burning. The Spaniards could smell the smoke.

They were shocked. Had another army beat them to the prize? They followed a long, wide staircase down into the city. Some four hundred stone houses surrounded them, eerily silent save for the last crackles of settling fires. They walked past fountains still gurgling and climbed a short staircase into the main square. After planting the royal standard and taking possession of the city for Spain, they explored, poking through the ashes of the palace and sun temple with their swords. They realized that Tupac Amaru and his Incas had destroyed the city themselves, “so effectively that if the Spaniards and their Indian allies had done it, it could not have been worse.”4 The Incas had fled into the jungle and mountains, carrying all they could, hoping that the Spaniards, deprived of their quarry, would return to Cuzco. The temple’s golden icons—idols, the Spanish called them—and all of the Incas’ treasures had gone with them.5

A few Spaniards, however, were moved by what remained. The Incas had built Vilcabamba to resemble Cuzco: a mile and a half wide but sprawling lengthwise. They had lived well in this second capital. They raised bees and gathered the honey; the warm and wet climate allowed for maize to be harvested three times a year along with sugar cane, yucca, sweet potato, and cotton. They grew the sacred coca leaf, chewed to attain strength and a mild narcotic high. “They raised parrots, hens, duck, native rabbits, turkeys, pheasants,” one chronicler continued,

curassows, macaws, and a thousand other birds of diverse, vivid colors. The houses and huts were covered in good thatch, and attractive to the eyes. There are a great number of guavas, pecans, peanuts, lucumas [a sweet, dry Andean fruit], papayas, pineapples, cherimoyas and other diverse fruit trees of the jungle. The Inca [emperor]’s house had two floors and was covered in roof tiles. The entire palace was painted with murals, all varying in style, which was quite a sight to see. There was a plaza where many people gathered to celebrate and even race horses. The palace doors were of very fragrant cedar, which there was much of in that land, and the rafters and floors were of the same material. Altogether, the Incas hardly lacked any of the gifts, greatness, and splendor of Cuzco in this distant or, better said, exiled land because whatever they wanted of the outside, the Indians brought them. It brought them contentment and joy, and they lived there with pleasure.6

Compared to the New World’s still-ramshackle Spanish cities stinking with pig manure, it was paradise.

It was a paradise now lost for good, however; the Spaniards would not return to Cuzco empty-handed. They formed parties to search for Tupac Amaru, his heirs, and his treasure. The first party, led by mestizo nobles, returned after a week with Tupac Amaru’s nephew, who was next in line to wear the red-fringed mascapaycha, the symbol of the Inca’s rule. The second party, mostly of Spaniards, found the Inca’s chief general and a fabulous treasure of emeralds, silver, and gold, including the Punchao, the golden sun icon once worshipped in Cuzco’s Temple of the Sun. It was filled with the ground-up hearts of deceased emperors and was the golden berth of the history and religious heritage of the Incas, their ark. Worse yet, a third party returned with the mallquis, or mummies, of Manco Inca and his eldest son, Titu Cusi Yupanqui. The Incas mummified their imperial dead and carried and worshipped them as they had when they were alive.7 Their capture was a disaster: the Spanish had already burned other such “idols.”

The Incas could only hope that the Spaniards’ true quarry could remain at large. If Tupac Amaru stayed free, the insurgency could limp along for years, a thorn in the side of Spanish rule. Nevertheless, the Spaniards had a clue that he had fled downriver, toward the Amazon, with his pregnant wife. The Spanish commander sent forty men after them, led by an ambitious young captain named Martín García de Loyola, whose great-uncle had founded the Jesuits, the religious order that was converting many indigenous people in this New World.

They found and interrogated the chief of the Incas’ jungle allies until he revealed that Tupac Amaru had left him only five days before, paddling by canoe to the sea. He was delayed because his “wife was frightened and sad because she was only a few days from giving birth. . . . Because he loved her so much, Tupac Amaru himself was helping her carry her burden and protecting her, walking very slowly.” The chief refused the reward García de Loyola offered, “saying that it was a great betrayal he had done to his lord.”8

García de Loyola and his men marched for fifty miles, day and night by torchlight. They fell over waterfalls and swam for their lives. All the insects of the Amazon bit, stung, and laid eggs in their skin. Had they rested, they would have failed. As they approached, Tupac Amaru begged his wife to flee with him by canoe. Had she agreed, they might have escaped down the Amazon. The Spanish chroniclers claimed that she was terrified of the open water, however, and Tupac Amaru refused to abandon her. The Spaniards found the couple warming themselves at a campfire, staving off the dark. Deep in the jungle, the last emperor of the Andes surrendered, and Loyola marched him back to the city of Vilcabamba, up the grand staircase, and out of the valley. Whether the young Inca looked back at his city, his father’s refuge, or whether he faced forward, girding himself for the future, is lost to history.

On September 21, the expedition returned to Cuzco. García de Loyola paraded Tupac Amaru around the plaza, leading him with a golden chain around his neck. The mascapaycha still lay on the young emperor’s head. When they passed the window of the viceroy Francisco de Toledo, the Spanish king’s colonial representative, the Inca refused to remove his royal fringe and Loyola struck him twice.9

The indignities continued. The viceroy wanted Tupac Amaru gone. In a sham trial, Toledo’s officials charged the emperor with the murder of Spaniards in his realm and sentenced him to death. Inca and Spanish nobles alike protested the harsh punishment, but Toledo was implacable. Tupac Amaru was hoisted onto a mule and led to a black-draped scaffold in Cuzco’s main square. His relatives and former subjects mobbed the streets and packed the balconies, wailing and sobbing. When the fallen emperor ascended the scaffold, he raised his hand, and the plaza went silent as he made his final declaration.

Speaking in Quechua, the Incas’ imperial language, he told his people that he had converted to Christianity: “All that I and my ancestors the Incas have told you up to now—that you should worship the sun Punchao and the huacas [sacred icons], idols, stones, rivers, mountains and vilcas [the sacred things]—is completely false. When we told you that we were entering in to speak to the sun, this was false. It did not speak, we alone did: for it is an object of gold and cannot speak.”10 The Spaniards had broken his faith in his divinity; or perhaps he mouthed their script at the end to save his people. He laid his head on the block. An Indian executioner took his hair with one hand and with a cutlass decapitated the Inca. He raised Tupac Amaru’s severed head to the sky.

The independent dynasty of Vilcabamba ended. Its treasure was divided; according to the Spanish law of the quinto royal, a fifth of the wealth went to the court of Philip II. The golden sun icon, the Punchao, disappeared into Europe. The Spaniards built Cuzco’s cathedral over one of the Incas’ grandest palaces and the Dominican priory atop the Temple of the Sun. Toledo tried to break up the Incas’ property and fortunes by marrying off the daughters of Inca lords to Spaniards, and he secretly burned the mummies of Manco Inca and Titu Cusi.

The Incas’ subjects, now the Indian wards of the Spanish royalty, were subjected to harsh tributary laws. They died at horrific rates in mines and on haciendas. While the Spanish king got one-fifth of the Incas’ wealth, by the early eighteenth century the Andean population was reduced to one-fifth of its former number, scholars estimate, by violence, disease, malnutrition, and exploitation.11 Many Spaniards saw and lamented the abuse, but it was hard to divert the flood of policies and social assumptions that caused the disaster.

Despite these calamities, the Inca nobility survived, and in a few cases thrived, allying themselves with sympathetic Spaniards. Manco’s kin claimed land and tribute and met as a body in Cuzco; the male with the greatest claim of descent from the original Incas wore the royal fringe.12 They told their stories to chroniclers or wrote them down themselves. And as time went by, even their most resentful former subjects idealized the age of Inca rule and hoped they might return to power.13 In 1780, that wish became flesh when José Gabriel Condorcanqui, a rural noble from the highlands south of Cuzco, took the name Tupac Amaru II and rebelled against the colonial authorities.

The reprisal was swift and terrible and had lasting consequences for the Incas’ existence in Peruvian society. Condorcanqui was also executed in Cuzco’s main square, but in a far more brutal manner than his predecessor. After forcing him to watch the execution of his wife and family, the Spaniards bound his arms and legs to horses, which were then driven in four directions. When he did not die, the Spaniards cut off his head, dismembered his body, and sent its parts to the towns that had supported him. “For those who viewed Tupac Amaru as an Inca, the body was not that of a prisoner,” writes one historian. “Rather, it stood for the Indian nation.”14 To punish the surviving Inca nobles—even those who had supported the crown—the Spanish tried to strip them of their titles and dress. Increasingly, the only indigenous identity available for public life was as an indio, an Indian of low birth. When Peru won its independence from Spain in the 1820s, the Incas lost even that. Coastal elites actively scorned indigenous nobles. Inca leadership held on longer in Cuzco, but by the 1840s the coastal state so eroded the value of indigenous identities that former Incas found it preferable to inter-marry with Europeans. Gradually, they lost track of the lines that linked them to one of the world’s great civilizations, the most sprawling indigenous empire South America had ever known.15

In some quarters, however, their memory lived on. Long-suffering Indians, mestizos, and Peruvians of European descent alike found hope in the tales of their wealth and independent spirit, of what had been lost but might yet be found.

Some dreamt of their treasure. The impious traded swords for shovels and dug into the Inca temples and pre-Columbian mounds of other cultures in search of gold and silver. One of the most sadly evocative words that emerged from the Spanish colonization of Peru was huaquear, the transformation of the Quechua word huaca—a sacred site or object—into a verb meaning to dig into temples and graves in search of treasure. To some native Andeans, however, the Incas’ treasure was patrimony, their inheritance. In 1802, the Prussian naturalist and explorer Alexander von Humboldt visited Cajamarca, where the Spanish killed the emperor Atahualpa. There, he met the seventeen-year-old son of a poor local cacique [indigenous noble] who claimed Inca descent, despite the purges of the 1780s. The son told the Prussian that the town’s ruins hid a vast treasure of golden trees and litters that awaited the Incas’ return; he and his parents would never dig for these treasures, which would be a sin. Humboldt was moved: “An idea generally spread and firmly believed among the natives is that it would be criminal to dig up and take possession of treasures which may have belonged to the Incas, and that such a proceeding would bring misfortune upon the whole Peruvian race. This idea is closely connected with that of the restoration of the Inca dynasty, an event which is still expected. . . . Oppressed nations always fondly hope for the day of their emancipation, and for the re-establishment of their old forms of government.” The Incas’ treasure, real or not, gave hope for the future.16

Others idealized the Incas’ physical remains, hoping that their recovery might also produce a return to their rule.17 When they executed the first Tupac Amaru, the Spaniards impaled his head on a pole in Cuzco’s plazas for two days, but had to take it down when they realized that the Indians worshipped it as if it were alive. From that moment emerged a story about a hero named the Inkarrí. This “Inca Rey” or “Inca King” was godlike, the son of the sun, until the viracochas—bearded Europeans—arrived. They exterminated the Inkarrí’s people, then captured and decapitated the lord himself. In one version of the story, the head was buried but began to regrow its body. In another version told in the jungles north of Cuzco today, the viracochas took his head to Lima, where it became the source of whites’ wealth. The Inkarrí ’s head kept talking, however, two Indian boys told one anthropologist in the 1980s. “It does not die. The head of the Inca does not die.”18 According to the legend, the return of the Inkarrí ’s head, or the regrowth of its body, would undo the conquest. “The promise of resurrection did exist,” as one scholar notes.19

The third hearth of Inca spirit, however, was far more tangible: Vilcabamba itself, the remote jungle capital of the Incas’ war for religious and political independence. When the Spaniards led Tupac Amaru to his death in 1572, they evacuated the city and settled its vassals closer to Cuzco. Never mapped, Vilcabamba slowly vanished. The birds came first, and then the snakes and other animals, nesting, making their homes. Vines and brush choked its plazas. Trees broke down some walls, but held others together, covering the sleeping city with a blanketing canopy of green. The last city of the Incas became the lost city of the Incas, its location known only to the Incas’ former allies, the “savage” jungle peoples. By 1768 “civilized” Peru had so lost Vilcabamba’s location that one geographer, Cosmé Bueno, reported that “only the memory of the retreat of the last Inca remained.”20 Nonetheless, stories emerged of hidden Inca societies, still alive but lost in the jungle.

For nearly 150 years after Bueno wrote, while Peru won its independence but further stripped its Indians of rights, the snakes of Vilcabamba slept. The city smoldered in Peruvian memory, neither dead nor alive, its meaning ever more hallucinatory. Had it been a place of imperial wealth and lost riches? Or a place of struggle, a symbol of indigenous resistance? What had happened before Tupac Amaru’s execution? Why had Manco rebelled, and what brought his empire to ruin?

In 1911, a chance discovery stoked its fires once again, and answers began to emerge. The snakes awoke and a conflagration of a new sort began. This time, it would not be between Europeans and the Incas, but the peoples of two Americas, north and south. This time, the treasure was not gold and silver, but something far more potent—the physical remains of the Incas, which were claimed by one young man, who resembled the young soldier and Jesuit heir Martin García de Loyola but looked up to the rebel Incas.

His name was Hiram Bingham, and he was born in Honolulu.


Part One

The Explorer

[image: image]

There comes a time in every rightly constructed boy’s life when he has a raging desire to go somewhere and dig for hidden treasure.

—Mark Twain, The Adventures of Tom Sawyer


Chapter One

The Black Temple

Many years later, when he hefted an Inca war club for the very first time, Hiram Bingham remembered his childhood and perhaps the familial piety that loomed over it all.1

In 1819, his grandfather, Hiram Bingham I, left his parents’ Vermont farm, sailed around the horn of South America, and made landfall in the Sandwich Islands, as Anglos then called Hawaii. He was twenty-nine years old, tall, and darkly handsome. His name suggested potency, monuments, and service: a Biblical figure named Hiram had helped King Solomon build his temple. By his side was his wife, Sybil, a willowy, sensitive, blue-eyed schoolteacher. They had married only two weeks before leaving. Sybil would bear seven children, five of whom survived infancy.

With each child, Sybil’s health grew ever more fragile, but Hiram’s energies proved volcanic. He was a fierce Protestant missionary who believed his ship plowed the same waves as the Mayflower. But where the Pilgrims sought religious freedom, Bingham and his brethren sought conversion of the “heathen.” They burned to bring native Hawaiians “the great salvation of Jesus Christ.”2

Their timing was perfect. King Kamehameha I, who had united the islands and protected the old gods, died four months before the missionaries’ arrival. His wife, Ka’ahumanu, the wealthiest woman in the islands, was in charge now, and she saw a political advantage in converting to Christianity. Before Bingham met with her, he visited an enormous, toppled temple of black lava stone named Pu’ukohola heiau, whose cornerstone had been laid by Kamehameha himself. Bingham walked its ruins with gratitude and hope.3

Over the next twenty years, the Binghams and their fellow missionaries converted the royal family and preached to their people. They encouraged European dress and tamped down native culture and “immoral” customs like the hula dance. Bingham designed the great religious symbol of the new regime. Its name was Kawaiaha’o, and it was Hawaii’s largest building, a church built of 14,000 thick slabs of white coral, quarried underwater by King Kamehameha III’s subjects.

Bingham would never see his “new Solomon’s Temple” finished, however.4 In 1840, two years before the great white church was dedicated, Sybil’s health failed and the family returned to New England, where she eventually died. Bingham remarried, but the missionary board wouldn’t let the domineering Vermonter go back to the islands. His piety had become a liability. While there, he had preached against the foreign merchants and sailors who had encouraged the islands’ trade in alcohol and prostitution. It wasn’t just Protestant prudishness; Bingham wanted the royalty to maintain their political independence. Nevertheless, his efforts won him no friends among other foreigners, and he and his fellow missionaries suffered bombardment and lynch mobs. His critics accused him of manipulating the royalty and called him King Bingham—a reputation that lasted into the twentieth century, when he served as the model for the chilly, arrogant missionary in James Michener’s novel Hawaii.5

He died in New Haven, Connecticut, in 1869, but by then his legacy had passed on to the next generation. His son, Hiram Bingham Jr., married a woman named Clara Brewster, who traced her lineage back to Mayflower passenger William Brewster. Clara was full of an “inborn love of neatness and order,” and she accompanied Hiram Jr. to a remote group of islands in the South Pacific called the Gilberts.6 Hiram Jr.’s Christianity was as gentle as his father’s was fierce, however, and their arrival in the Gilberts was as hard as his father’s arrival in Hawaii was easy. Two months into their stay, Clara gave birth to a stillborn boy. Hiram Jr. buried the baby, but the Gilbertese people found the grave and spread his remains across the sand.7 The Gilbertese saw little advantage in Christianity and wanted to make their dislike for the missionaries known. In their first seven years Hiram and Clara converted a meager four souls.

After seventeen years of struggle, they got a second chance at familial happiness. Clara was pregnant again, and although they were finally building a congregation, she decided to leave the Gilberts. Hiram Jr. was deathly ill with dysentery, and she knew that neither her husband nor baby would survive on a dry coral island. With the help of some native friends, she flagged down a passing ship and talked their way aboard even though it was going to Samoa. From there they sailed to Fiji, and from there to New Zealand, going ever farther from home. Finally, when Clara was eight months pregnant, she got them on a ship headed back to Hawaii. They arrived in Honolulu in early November, and Clara helped her husband take refuge in his sister’s school, nestled in the shadow of the great white Kawaiaha’o church.8

Clara’s contractions began six days later, and at 3:15 in the morning of November 16, 1875, she remembered, “my heart was filled with wonderful love and joy at hearing the cries of my precious darling child, a fine baby boy. Everything went well—except I had too little milk for my darling—which almost broke my heart.”9 At ten the next morning, Hiram Jr. came in to see their son, Hiram Bingham III, who had already traveled further while in the womb than most Americans would their whole lives.

For mainland American children in the nineteenth century, Hawaii was a far-off island paradise warmed by tropical breezes, filled with fabulous fruits and foreign peoples. For young Hiram Bingham III, or Hi, it was a colorful prison.

After Hi was born, the missionary community rallied around his parents, who had little save their piety and a meager stipend. When the family could not afford a home, the missionaries built them a large one in walking distance of Punahou, the school founded on land given to Hiram Bingham I by the Hawaiian royalty. The house was the religious retreat his parents needed—their life’s work would be translating the Bible into Gilbertese—but for an only child, it was a cold, lonely place. There was little division between home and church. The Sabbath began Saturday evening and continued with five separate services on Sunday. Hi lived like a tropical monk, “shoved off into a sort of closet space under the slope of the roof on the second floor” where he slept under a thin mosquito netting that hung from the timbers only a few inches above.10 Playing cards were considered diabolic, and chess and backgammon were nearly as dangerous.11 His father kept a short, hard stick at hand for discipline.

When young tow-headed Hi wasn’t being chided for not living up to his grandfather’s standards at home, he was teased for them everywhere else. His father’s playmates had gone into business rather than follow their parents into the church. White Americans had bought up much of the islands, shifting control away from the native royalty and disenfranchising poor Hawaiians and Asians. It was all that conversion to Christianity was supposed to prevent, and the missionaries’ influence had all but disappeared. When Hi introduced himself at Punahou as “Hiram T’ird,” his classmates jeered.12

Despite his curiosity and natural intelligence, Hi would always “[struggle] with a sense of inadequacy,” one of his sons later wrote.13 Hi was small for his age and picked on by bullies. For comfort, he escaped into books and his imagination. At first his parents only allowed illustrated Bibles and a green scrapbook containing morality tales for children, a missionary hymn written by his grandfather, and almost oracular engravings clipped from the newspaper—Roman ruins, the German geographer Mercator, an Andean condor.14 When he grew older, however, he hid in Honolulu’s library, an island on an island, where he could read everything he wanted. He loved Mark Twain’s The Adventures of Huckleberry Finn, as much for its portrayal of America as for its story of escape. In 1887, Hi visited the United States, his “homeland,” for the first time. He and his father spent the summer in California, where Hi thrilled at Gilded Age San Francisco. Brass, gold, ferries, and cable cars clanged in Hi’s chest, affecting him so deeply that after returning to Hawaii, he used the money his parents had saved for his theological education to buy a steamship ticket back to the States. His father caught him at the docks before he could run away, but Hiram’s sad betrayal devastated the family. “It is dreadful to think that such a boy has so deceived his parents,” wrote a family friend. “I believe he got the fancy from books he has read.”15

The family friend was right. There was something growing in Hiram that thirsted for lands less holy than Hawaii. Following his failed escape attempt, his penitent parents gave him more freedom. Hi started to hike in the mountains of Oahu with his natural history teacher, who taught him “the joys of living out-of-doors and of exploring” and how to collect zoological, biological, and antiquarian specimens for the school’s small museum.16 Under his wing, Hi might have learned that his family’s belief in a 6,000-year-old biblical world now conflicted with scientific theories of evolution and geology. Christianity no longer had a monopoly on the truth.

When Hi was almost sixteen, the family returned to the United States. While his parents oversaw the publication of his father’s Gilbertese Bible in New York, Hi boarded a train for Massachusetts. He enrolled in Phillips Academy, a prestigious boarding school in Andover, hoping to follow in his father’s footsteps to Yale University. Andover was cruel to a boy rich in spirit, intellect, and travel, but desperately poor where it counted most. The other students made fun of his clothes, made cheaply by a Chinese tailor in Honolulu. To pay for his room and board he worked five hours a day in the dining halls. His dorm room went unheated until his father sent money for a stove that raised the room’s temperature to a balmy 53 degrees in January.

The experience gave him a lifelong distaste for poverty, but it also gave him focus. A taller, more mature Hiram met his parents in the summer of 1893 at the epoch-making Columbian Exposition in Chicago. Staged in honor of Christopher Columbus’s arrival in the New World four hundred years before, the Chicago World’s Fair made a fittingly deep impression on young Hiram. One wonders what a boy raised by Hawaiian missionaries thought of the “White City” and its illuminated, alabaster-stucco classical architecture; what he thought of the displays of Arab alleyways and “savage” villages; and whether he was in the audience when Frederick Jackson Turner declared that because the Western frontier had been closed, American energy would need “a wider field for its exercise”—a trend that the Bingham family had observed in Hawaii for years.17

So much had changed since his parents and grandparents devoted themselves to saving the “heathens” of the Pacific. Science and racial theories, not religion, ruled the day. Darwin’s theory of evolution had been applied to society, and with the near-total confinement of Native Americans to reservations, white America was eager, if regretful, to prematurely declare the passage of indigenous America from the national stage.18 (Fortunately, reports of the American Indian’s demise were much exaggerated.) Industry, not agrarianism, was changing the country. Dollars and adventurism, not democracy, were shaping American ambitions abroad. That January, American troops had landed in Honolulu to help American businessmen shore up a mostly white revolt against Hawaiian Queen Liliuokalani and her people.19 Although President Grover Cleveland denounced the intervention, Hawaii was looking increasingly like America’s first overseas imperial possession. Hi’s grandfather had designed the great white church at Kawaiaha’o to replace the Hawaiians’ black lava temples, but Anglo Hawaiians now believed that the temples’ true successors were the white columns and facades like those of the fair’s secular temples, alluding to European civilizations of the past and American empires of the future.

Hi entered Yale the following fall, but first he completed a sacred, filial task. Sybil Bingham, his grandmother, was buried in Massachusetts. Hiram I, who had died two decades later, was buried in New Haven, in his second wife’s plot. Hiram Jr. charged Hi with exhuming his grandmother’s bones, transporting them to New Haven, and reburying them alongside her husband.

Four days before starting his freshman year at Yale, Hi and a hired laborer spent a September afternoon digging through the sandy soil of her grave. Three feet down they found her. There was no trace of the box that once protected her from the dirt, save “two old fashioned brass handles.”

“The bones were all together,” Hi wrote his father. “The skull, leg bones and ribs were all within a few inches of each other. We looked very carefully for traces of a box but found none. . . . The gravedigger searched very thoroughly, and I believe that all of the remains that lay there were safely removed.” Hiram packed his grandmother’s bones in a pine box and brought it to New Haven by railroad— likely the only member of Yale’s class of 1898 to arrive with his family’s bones literally in his baggage.

Yet once he started classes, “Sybil’s bones were not on his mind,” one of Hi’s sons would write. His next letter home gushed about the “fine, great, grand,” university, and it wasn’t until two weeks later that the young man told his father that Sybil had been reburied next to Hiram Bingham Sr. But there had been some wrangling with a family friend, a Mrs. Champion, over the headstone’s epitaph.

“It seemed to me that the word ‘relict’ is obsolete. By the way, Mrs. C has made us a present of a very pretty sofa pillow.”20

Perhaps Hi’s chirpy transition from his grandmother’s remains to physical comfort was just that—a transition, to cover the space of what may have been a truly upsetting experience. By the time he reached Yale, Hi had been so weighed down by the darkness and demands of his family legacy that perhaps there was no other way to be other than blithe and cheery, especially when burdened by the bones of his family.

If that cheeriness bothered his father, who had wept while burying and reburying his first son in foreign soils, he said nothing. He was certain Yale would keep Hi pious, as it had him, forty-five years before. Hi would respect the dead. He would be a missionary yet.


Chapter Two

The Ivory Tower

It was the spring of 1898, and from the outside, Hiram’s life looked perfect. He was about to graduate from Yale, one of the most prestigious academic institutions in America. He was six-feet-four and delicately handsome, a little shy but a little less stiff than he had been as a child. As for wealth, it hardly mattered where he was going. He had his life planned out for him as a missionary in China, his father wrote, as a “teacher of the Emperor of the Celestial Empire just as your grandfather was of the Kings and Queens of the Sandwich Islands.”1

But if life was so good, then why did he confess in a letter to be “approaching insanity”?2

College started off well. Like his father, Hiram raced sailboats and won all cups offered in 1897. He sang, refereed football games, and, as his father hoped, found the university’s religious niche. Most visibly, Hiram took a leadership role at Dwight Hall, the university’s Christian public service group.

Socially, however, his time at the elite, exclusive institution was challenging. Although there were strivers like himself, Yale in the 1890s was a playground for the children of the Gilded Age, where they could search for their purpose, show off their status, and make the contacts that guaranteed them fortune and glory. Bingham’s classmates included future senators, oilmen, diplomats, railroad barons, wealthy philanthropists, authors, and a Pulitzer Prize–winning composer. Some were self-made, others were heirs, and Yale filled both groups—almost all white Anglo-Saxon Protestants—with a driving ambition for worldly, not spiritual, success.

Faced with opportunity at every turn, Hiram began to relax his Puritanism. He tutored the wealthy, studying their habits. He played cards and joined the Psi Upsilon Fraternity and Yale’s Hawaiian Club, where he saw friends smoking and drinking, activities forbidden in missionary Honolulu. He read novels openly and danced with women at parties. He read the Bible as allegory, not history, and looked down his nose at evangelists. He was still Christian, he wrote his parents, but he didn’t need to be a zealot to prove it.

A wave of more worldly success helped him along. At the end of freshman year, he and two other members of the Yale freshman debate team argued down Harvard’s team, giving the campus “the first victory in debate which Yale can boast.” The students exploded in cheers, stormed the stage, lifted the three freshmen on their shoulders, and carried them around campus, Bingham later told his sons.3 Hiram had no illusions that he could become a railroad baron, but his intellect and rhetorical skill suggested other paths to acceptance by his peers. He presided over the senior debate society, broke the Sabbath to study, and worshipped his professors. Hi cruelly declared to his father that “no minister has onefifth of the chance to accomplish more good and affect the world more by his influence than a teacher.”4 He took out more books than any other student, the university’s librarian told him, and at the end of his junior year he was on track to graduate Phi Beta Kappa and begin a career in academia.

Instead, his dreams fell apart.

In the autumn of 1897, while gold and red leaves littered the flagstone campus like so many hopeful embers, Hiram waited for the light tap on his shoulder that welcomed seniors into one of Yale’s hardly secret societies, perhaps even Skull and Bones, the most exclusive of all. The tap never came. When his fellow students began to wink at each other above scarves and tie pins, Hi knew he had been passed over. He took it badly, having accepted Yale’s markers of success. He thought it was a snub of his poor and pious background. Years later, when he returned to teach at Yale, he believed that he could never be in the “inner hierarchy . . . because he was not a ‘Bones man.’”5

He forged ahead with his secret plan to become a teacher, but his grades began to drop. That spring, while representing Yale at a religious conference, Hiram listened to a revivalist preacher who filled him with guilt at how far he had strayed from the church. His rich imagination spinning with visions of Hell, he gave the preacher all the money he had saved for his continuing education. When he came to, he was ashamed, but he agreed with his parents that it was a sign that after graduation he should steam back to Hawaii to begin his career as a missionary.

Inside, however, Hiram was in tumult, and around him, the world was at war. In February 1898, just before his epiphany, the USS Maine mysteriously exploded in the harbor of Havana, Cuba. The island at the time was engaged in a violent struggle for independence from Spain, which was trying to hold onto its last two New World colonies, Cuba and Puerto Rico. The newspapers of William Randolph Hearst, who would later inspire Orson Welles’ Citizen Kane, used the Maine to whip the American public into a fervor, demanding that the United States intervene in the revolutionaries’ fight.

To Hearst, it was high time to test the Monroe Doctrine, the unofficial U.S. policy against European meddling in the New World. Among Anglo- Americans the Black Legend of the Spanish—that they were supposedly savage, benighted, superstitious, and lazy—was infamous. (The change conveniently ignored the fact that some modicum of Spanish justice meant that its indigenous populations were not confined to barren reservations, as in the United States.) To become a world power, the United States needed a villain, and Spain served nicely.

Congress authorized President William McKinley to join Cuba’s fight for independence—whether the Cubans wanted help or not—starting the Spanish-American War. Yale’s campus exploded into full, riotous support for the intervention, burning effigies of Spain and its army’s general, Valeriano Weyler.6 “Every body is talking of enlistment,” wrote Hi to his father. “I feel very strongly inclined to volunteer.” He wanted to join the Rough Riders, the famed mounted regiment of cowboys and Ivy Leaguers led by Colonel Theodore Roosevelt.7 Filled with patriotism and panic, Bingham wanted to escape his missionary future by proving himself with revolutionary struggle.

Fortunately, an uncle talked Hi out of enlisting. Had he followed Roosevelt in his charge up San Juan Hill, his height would have made him an easy target. Hiram tried to convince himself that it was the right decision, marveling to his parents how “few are eager and zealous to give their lives for . . . the Kingdom of God!”8 His protests sounded hollow, however, and the many absent seats at his commencement were a silent rebuke. Even in Hawaii, the war was inescapable. On July 7, President McKinley officially annexed the islands as a U.S. territory. American troops were already leaving Honolulu for the Philippines to dismember and rearrange imperial Spain’s last limbs in a way that suggested that the United States had imperial ambitions of its own. Young Hi lacked the immediate pleasure of participating, but the atmosphere of war, overseas adventure, and gilded privilege had penetrated him far deeper than thousands of hours in church.

Hiram’s final days on the mainland, however, hinted at his far more fantastical future. On July 5, 1898, while visiting family in Massachusetts, Hiram climbed a tower commemorating the supposed lost civilization of Norumbega, which in the late nineteenth century was believed to be New England’s El Dorado. As one archaeologist has suggested, “a youthful America, seeking its place in the world, was looking for a monumental history comparable to Schliemann’s highly publicized finds at Troy and Mycenae.”9 According to legend, Norumbega was a Native American kingdom of incredible wealth, but it was more likely the mutated memory of the sprawling Native American societies that populated the Atlantic coast before the arrival of European rifles and disease. The tower’s architect, however, was an eccentric, wealthy Cambridge chemist, who believed that Norumbega was actually a Norse settlement, and that North America’s greatest pre-Columbian civilization was white and blonde.10 The theory was born of speculation, the desire to put Northern Europeans in the Americas before the Spanish, and disbelief that Native Americans could have built great civilizations on their own.

Although historians and archaeologists looked down on such theories they were nonetheless prevalent in mainstream society. They were reinforced by the popular lost-race genre of late nineteenth- and early-twentieth-century novels, in which whites and Indians fought over the lost cities of the New World, filled with gold, silver, and secrets.11 The Young Silver Hunters or The Lost City of the Andes told one such tale, its cover bearing four Americans with guns falling into a hole before a feather-festooned mob of “Sun Worshippers.” Perhaps Hi stole away from his studies to read such dime novels, perhaps not. Nevertheless, they were as much a part of his world as the tower of Norumbega. He had gone there to get away, perhaps to understand where he was going and why. His family’s mission was to supplant the native religions of the world with Christianity; Norumbega’s tower did that one better by populating native history with Northern Europeans. It was just the sort of idea that Hiram one day would fight in his career as an explorer, a missionary of a different sort.

For the moment, however, he still was trapped in his family’s past. “Would that the narrow-minded dwellers in the deep valleys would climb up and broaden their vision,” he wrote. “What a new concept of God they would get.”12

Hi climbed down from the tower, crossed the country by train, and took a steamship to Honolulu, where he moved back in with his parents.


Chapter Three

The Compass

Once back in Hawaii, it took five months of sleeping under his parents’ roof before Hiram Bingham abandoned the missionary life for good. He told his parents that it was because Honolulu’s climate was ruining his voice, but the real reason was that Hiram had found a way out. Her name was Alfreda Mitchell.

Their upbringings could not have differed more. Alfreda’s father, Alfred Mitchell, had spent his youth in Hawaii seeking his fortune in whale oil. Back on the mainland, he landed a far greater prize—the diamond-laden hand of Annie Tiffany, an heiress to the Tiffany & Co. jewelry fortune. Their daughter Alfreda grew up in a secular wonderland of wealth and finery, moving between Manhattan apartments and New England estates with ease. Although she had traveled throughout Europe and islands of the Pacific, she was sheltered, devoted to her violin, and, as Bingham later noted, “more eloquent in music than in speech.”1 As short as Bingham was tall, in her youth she had a beautifully wispy quality and had modeled for her famed artist uncle, Louis Comfort Tiffany, for his painting of “Flora,” the spirit of spring.2 Kind, gentle, and surrounded by glass and gold, she was free of the self-doubt over money and piety that had plagued Hiram’s childhood but had turned him into a striver.

They were so dissimilar that Alfreda barely talked to him at their first meeting. It had been the spring of 1897, when Hiram was still a junior at Yale University. Feeling nostalgic for the islands, her father had invited Hiram and six other eligible Yale men from Hawaii to picnic at their New London home and to meet his two daughters. While his friends joked easily, Hiram sat shyly alone, looking thoroughly uncomfortable.

The triumphs and disappointments of Hiram’s senior year, however, emboldened the beanpole. After graduation, a friend invited Hiram to sail up to Boston for the Harvard-Yale crew races. When they passed the Mitchells’ beach, the friend rowed Hiram ashore, and the tall Hawaiian talked his way into dinner with Mrs. Mitchell and her daughters. Hiding his internal doubts, he spoke with surprising conviction of his future plans. “We enjoy Hiram immensely,” Alfreda wrote in her journal.3

Hiram enjoyed Alfreda as well, as much taken by her as her life of gentle beauty. When the Mitchells’ yacht dropped anchor in Honolulu six months later, he called at their beachfront cottage and began to woo her with leis and horseback rides on the beach. He confided in her, revealing that he was disenchanted with the missionary life and wanted to explore other careers. Alfreda’s father apparently feared further entanglement with this prospectless missionary’s son and took the family off to Japan. But by then it was too late—the couple was in love.

Hi understood that he had to improve his social standing to be taken seriously by this wealthy family. He quit the chapel, got a technical job in the sugar cane fields, and in four months made enough money to sail to San Francisco, the city of his childhood dreams. He moved to Berkeley and enrolled in the University of California’s graduate department to study sociology. He lived it up in San Francisco society, putting on plays and dancing with debutantes at balls. He finally broke free from the guilt of his childhood. Half-apologetic, half-defensive, his letters home broke his parents’ hearts.

Given his curiosity and love of knowledge, he had made the right choice. When classes began, Hiram realized that his skills as a storyteller suited him well for history. He switched from sociology and so impressed the university’s president that he asked Hiram to lecture for him when he was away. His master’s thesis, “The Growth of American Supremacy in Hawai’i,” closed the first chapter of his life. It received high honors, but it was more of a slapdash job than his advisors knew. To get it done, Hiram had copied several long passages from other works without footnotes.4

Hiram had decided to try for a Ph.D. in history in a direction that, like his thesis, would link the past to America’s political present. His mentor, who later sat on the U.S. commission governing the Philippines, had the answer: Spanish America. It was a radical proposal as most historians of the day limited their interest to the United States or Europe. But Bernard Moses saw an opportunity. The Spanish-American War had given the United States new heights of hemispheric influence, and the country needed new experts in Latin American culture, geography, and history.

The field fit Bingham’s ambitions like a well-tailored pair of khaki jodhpurs. He could be a trailblazer, studying the revolutionary movements of the Spanish colonists who expelled the European power that had ruled them. It was a choice as political as it was pathbreaking, based on the belief that America shared a political past and future with countries like Mexico, Colombia, and Peru. Bingham would celebrate the Americas’ independence and show how the United States could use that shared history for economic and political ends.5 Just as his grandfather broke religious ground in Hawaii, Hiram could break new political ground in South America. The key difference, however, was that his grandfather was interested in native peoples. It seems that Hiram was actively not, having had his fill in Honolulu.

Flush with California sunshine, Hi rode the train East, where he was reunited with Alfreda, now his fiancée. He returned to Hawaii to spend the summer with his parents, then came back to the mainland to start a Ph.D. in history at Harvard—perhaps hoping he might be able to return to Yale afterward. He would focus on the heroes of South American independence. He dreamed of writing a biography of Simón Bolívar or, as Bingham called him, “The George Washington of South America.” Sure enough, Yale’s new president Arthur Hadley hinted that there might be a position teaching South American history waiting when he finished his Ph.D. Hadley predicted the path of the United States in the region and wanted Yale to blaze it. As if sealing two futures at once, on November 20, 1900, a former Yale president presided over Hiram and Alfreda’s wedding.

For a few years, it seemed that Hiram had made no false moves. In September 1901, President William McKinley was assassinated, and Hi’s hero, Theodore Roosevelt, was sworn in as America’s new president. Under Roosevelt, the United States took an even more active role in the hemisphere. Roosevelt landed troops in Honduras and the Dominican Republic and sent warships to back a rebellion in Panama. The support guaranteed American control over the construction of the Panama Canal, passage for its warships, and, it was hoped, dominion over hemispheric trade. In a 1904 address to Congress, Roosevelt established his corollary to the Monroe Doctrine, arguing that it was the United States’ duty to intervene in its neighbors’ affairs when they were unstable.

To some, this seemed like poorly disguised imperialism. But Hiram, now twenty-nine, saw it as only natural—an extension of American technology and political authority. Ever topical, he wrote his dissertation on a failed Scottish colony in seventeenth-century Panama’s jungle-locked Darien Gap. As he would later explain to the Carnegie Institution, his larger goal as a scholar was to prepare the descendants of “the present inhabitants of the Temperate Zone”—white Americans—“to live in the Tropics where there is more unoccupied land than in any other part of the world.”6

The Tropics were hardly “unoccupied,” but Bingham’s bigger problem was that he was a decade too early. His Harvard professors did not know what to do with his interest in what they considered a historical backwater.7 Hiram failed to reassure them. He flunked his first oral examination, struggled with Spanish, and found that there were not enough primary sources on Latin America in Harvard’s library to finish his thesis. He was named Harvard’s “Curator of Latin American History and Literature,” but when he received his Ph.D. in 1905, the hinted-at position at Yale failed to materialize. Yale’s history department was similarly skeptical of the importance of Spanish America as a field of study—and of Bingham’s seriousness. The only job Bingham could find was as a personal tutor at Princeton, then headed by future President Woodrow Wilson. The job was an academic dead end.

Frustrated at work, Bingham took a sharp look at the rest of his life. At first he had enjoyed his new-found wealth. Drawing on his family’s sense of moral righteousness and Alfreda’s wealth and privilege, Hiram settled into the life of a true patrician. Tiffany money paid for trips to Europe, a staff of servants, and a portrait of Hiram in new riding clothes. It also paid for a nurse for his mother until she passed away in November 1903. The Mitchells bought Alfreda a three-story house in Cambridge, larger than most of his professors’ homes, and built them a Japanese-style summer home in rural Salem. Their houses glowed with stained glass creations, and Tiffany & Co.’s employees did research for Hiram in Paris’s National Library. Their personal life was similarly sprawling: by 1905, Alfreda had borne three sons. There were more to come. Years later, when asked whether he had a hobby, Bingham replied, “It used to be collecting books . . . but when I began to collect sons, I found that more interesting.”8

Beneath the surface, however, Bingham struggled with his dependency on the Tiffany fortune. He “never could be sure,” his son Alfred wrote years later, “how much his love for [Alfreda] was for herself and how much for her family’s money.”9 He had by now realized that beneath her dreaminess she could be incurious, hamstrung by her upbringing. In photos together from those early years she was soft and out of focus, standing behind Bingham, who sat at a desk covered in books or with his sons on his lap. She encouraged Hiram’s studies and devoted herself to the children. Where he seemed hawkish and sure, “she fantasized endlessly, almost brooded, with her mouth drawn into a Mona Lisa smile which later became fixed,” another son, Mitchell, remembered.10

If Alfreda was a perfect Victorian, Bingham was something hungrier, caught between his family’s missionary ideals, his own Gilded Age desires, and hours spent devouring the books of Theodore Roosevelt, Rudyard Kipling, and Joseph Conrad. He desired a “strenuous life” and envied the sense of purpose, danger, and adventure that had guided his parents and grandparents from New England into the rest of the world.11 Bingham also wanted to write books, but he was no closer to the benchmark set by his grandfather, whose account of his twenty years in Hawaii had been a best seller, and his father, who, in the parlance of the missionaries, had “reduced” an entire spoken language to writing in order to translate the Bible. They warred with the world through words, spirit, and sweat—an energy that Hiram once possessed but had since lost. What had happened to the boy who read pulpy novels filled with lost cities and runaways, tried to escape on a ship, and collected shells in the mountains of Hawaii? Or even the Hiram Bingham of seven years before, who had tried to join the Rough Riders?

And so, not even eight months into his time at Princeton, Bingham began to plan a trip that would both satisfy his need for adventure and give him the raw materials to establish himself as an academic. He would travel to the Caribbean and visit archives in Panama, Colombia, and Venezuela, to find documents for his long-planned “great man” biography of Simón Bolívar, the hero of South American independence. To bring the Americas closer together and jump-start his career, Hiram would show the United States why Latin America’s struggle for independence had been such an achievement.

He might have done so had Alfreda not been laid up at a Manhattan hospital following the birth of their fourth son. While she convalesced, Hiram stayed at the Yale Club and rubbed elbows with the sort of men who had snubbed him back at Yale. One such glad-hander was Hamilton Rice. Rice represented everything Hiram Bingham felt he gave up in marriage and academia: adventure, a free spirit, no family obligations, the ability to buy a steamship ticket without a mother-in-law’s permission. Rice too had noteworthy origins—he was a grandson of the governor of Massachusetts—and like Bingham had graduated college in 1898, but from Harvard. Unlike Bingham, he was independently wealthy, and after medical school had boated from the heights of the Andes Mountains in Ecuador to the lowlands of Brazil. Along the way he had eaten monkeys, shot at wild hogs, and witnessed the tremendous cruelty of the rubber trade, which enslaved Indians to supply the stuff that cushioned American and European modernity. The adventure won Rice a coveted membership in the Royal Geographic Society. “He knew headwaters the way other society folk know headwaiters,” wrote one historian. Rice would go on to found a geographical institute at Harvard— funded by his future wife, a millionaire who had been widowed by the wreck of the Titanic—but his colleagues were less charitable. They remembered a “scoundrel” and fierce rival of other explorers.12

Bingham wasn’t yet that particular. Rice was the first explorer he had ever met, and the two hit it off. Rice spread out a map and suggested a new plan, one that would let Bingham be an explorer as well. Bingham had wanted to travel from Venezuela to Colombia by train and boat; but if he went overland, crossing rivers, plains, and the Andes Mountains, Rice would go with him. A light went on in Bingham’s head: this was a path Bolívar and his army had marched in 1819. The route was considered impossible in the wet season, through swamps and over a miserable section of the Andes, but Bolívar’s army had done it, surprising the Spanish and permanently expelling them from Colombia. Instead of hunting Bolívar through books, Hiram could follow in his footsteps, proving the accomplishment of “The Liberator” to North Americans. He could even bracket the expedition with book-buying jaunts in the capitals of Venezuela and Colombia. If all went well, he could be a historian and a husband, an explorer and an academic, all at once. Hiram had missed out on San Juan Hill with Roosevelt, but here was his chance to retrace an even more epic ascent in the annals of American victories over colonial powers.

It was a highly unorthodox decision, and one that would raise eyebrows if it failed—but if it succeeded? Filled with a sense of purpose, Bingham and Rice reckoned that the trip would take four months. If they left in December, they could be back in April. To do so, however, Hiram needed boots, a pith helmet, compasses, guns, and steamship tickets. In other words, he needed Tiffany money. Hiram went to the hospital and told Alfreda of the plan, suggesting that it was his “opportunity to accomplish a good piece of work.” Her parents disapproved, but she agreed to give him what he needed. She “spent over two weeks in a hospital, while he stayed at the Yale Club and pushed ahead with his plans,” their son Alfred wrote years later.13 Alfreda had enabled Hiram’s development yet again, and she watched him steam away for a new career as an explorer.

The approval Hiram wanted most, however, was his father’s. “I feel the Bingham blood stirring in my veins as I start for little known regions, as nearly all my Bingham ancestors for ten generations have done before me,” he wrote to Hawaii.14

In some strange way, he hoped, he was going home.


Chapter Four

Into the Andes

In Venezuela and Colombia, Hiram Bingham fell in love with South American exploration. He thrilled at rising among peaks and seeing an expanse of lakes and jungles stretch out before him. He relished slogging through a swamp with his rifle at the ready. He even enjoyed arguing over routes and history in a language not his own.

Yet a pith helmet, compass, and slap-leather spirit did not an explorer make. The gap between the storybook version of exploration and its reality was wide. On this first expedition, Hiram Bingham faced all the challenges of the daredevil’s craft, from disagreeable guides to starvation; from getting lost to that crucial test: convincing locals that he came in peace and was not a soldier or spy.

It was a late January morning in 1907, just after dawn, and Bingham and his party were following the footsteps of Simón Bolívar’s march to independence. They had been in the saddle for nearly twenty-four hours, having missed the turn for a resting place and ridden all night. As their mules splashed across the Cojedes River, a garish, screaming, and beautiful flock of macaws took flight.1 A few turns in the path later, they got their first glimpse of the Andes Mountains, stretching the length of the continent and beyond: dry and rocky on its western slopes and wet and forested in the east; grassy in its high plains and cold and forbidding in its cloud-wrapped heights.

The Andes were still a long way off, however, and the expedition was far, far behind schedule. By Bingham and Rice’s estimation, they should have been in Colombia by then, but they were not even halfway out of Venezuela.The party consisted of Bingham, Rice, a young German named Max, and two black Caribbeans—Josh Obadiah Nero and Richard Harvey. Taking up the rear were two Venezuelans, Rafael Rivas and Waldemera, responsible for a cart laden with Hiram’s shopping spree at Abercrombie & Fitch: tents, blankets, pots and pans, emergency rations, brass lanterns, books, maps, surveying instruments, and the “alchemy” of Bingham’s success as an explorer: a camera, tripod, and hundreds of bulky photographic plates.

Yet when they rode up to a tavern in the village of Agua Blanca that morning, all the locals could see was that the Americans were armed to the teeth. Bingham and Rice each carried a revolver and a Winchester rifle. The cart bore another revolver, a bolt-action Mauser, two repeating shotguns, and “a sufficient supply of ammunition.” The guns were for hunting and protection. The Americans rode toward an area of Venezuela that had recently experienced revolutionary unrest and a stretch of Colombia where Bingham half-hoped to run into “savage” Indians.

Inside the tavern, however, the explorers learned that their guns made everyone nervous. A Venezuelan cattle owner cornered Bingham and asked him what he was doing there. He refused to believe that the Americans would spend their own money to come all the way from the United States to march over dry plains, mazelike swamps, and freezing mountains for the sake of adventure or just to prove that Simón Bolívar had done so a century before. The proposition was more than absurd; it was positively suspect. Angrily, the cattle owner demanded to know “why our Government had sent us,” Hiram wrote later. “Was it contemplating taking Venezuela next after Panama?” The Venezuelan declared that no country would pay for the exploration of another unless it had conquest on the brain. “As I persisted in denying both his premises and his conclusions, he decided I must be a spy or an army officer in disguise.”

Bingham enjoyed the case of mistaken identity, but the rancher’s suspicions weren’t as far-fetched as the American claimed. In a few years’ time, the Office of Naval Intelligence would employ Harvard archaeologist Sylvanus Morley as a spy in Mexico.2 Closer to home, ever since President Theodore Roosevelt championed his corollary to the Monroe Doctrine, Venezuela had suspected that the United States was funding insurrections to overthrow President Cipriano Castro, a dictator sometimes called the Lion of the Andes, whom President Roosevelt notoriously denigrated as an “unspeakably villainous little monkey.”3 In Caracas, Bingham had stayed at the American Legation, in a house that had belonged to a Venezuelan general who had funded the last serious revolution and whom Bingham seems to have visited in prison. Bingham had letters of introduction from the U.S. Secretary of State and Venezuela’s minister of Foreign Affairs, but they were hardly disinterested parties. Castro had recently been ill, and there were rumors of power struggles amongst his potential successors. Given that Bingham would meet with the U.S. Legation in Bogota, Colombia, on the other end, the Venezuelan cattle owner might not have been far off. Bingham may not have been in the pay of the U.S. government, but he shared information with them nonetheless. Looming before him in a khaki hunting jacket, a revolver at his waist and his pith helmet in his gloved hands, Bingham looked less like an explorer than the very personification of the colossus looming to the north, whose recent interest in Venezuela had been far from academic.

Chuckling at the man’s fear of outright conquest, Bingham rounded up the rest of his group, mounted his mule, and rode on through Venezuela’s western plains. By the time they reached the border with Colombia a month and a half later, however, the accusations stopped being funny. In the town of El Amparo, on the Venezuelan side of the Arauca River, they woke up to learn that they were under arrest. Locals had denounced them to the local governor, Bingham fumed, as “a party of six armed men carrying four Winchesters and two Mauser rifles, engaged in convoying a cart-load of arms and ammunition to aid the refugee revolutionists in Colombia!”

Bingham’s protests were to no avail; four bedraggled Venezuelan soldiers guarded the inn. Bingham and Rice snuck out, hid the guns in the woods, and toyed with escaping by swimming the river at night. Luckily, the mayor intervened. He took Bingham to meet the “venerable” gray-bearded governor, who was waiting for Bingham on his porch in a white linen suit. He inspected the card of the Venezuelan minister of Foreign Affairs and opened a private letter addressed to the president of Colombia from his minister in Washington. He was disappointed but impressed to find that Bingham’s credentials were legitimate.

Bingham drank to the governor’s health and—the coup de grâce of every modern traveler—took his photograph. The next morning the expedition bid goodbye to their Venezuelan cart-drivers and loaded their gear in canoes to be ferried across to Colombia. Bingham had disliked Venezuela and was glad to put its “shiftless” people behind him; the country, he claimed, gave “the impression of rest, as though, wearied of the past, it was ‘waiting for something to turn up.’” The American stepped into the ferryman’s canoe, sat down, and waited to be rowed across.

Colombia was far more accommodating to Bingham’s expectations of good treatment. Its officials were as warm as Venezuela’s were suspicious and helped them find a guide for the next leg, one Juan de Dios. Bingham liked him because he had “Indian blood.” They would later catch him stealing one of Rice’s heir-looms, a golden American eagle, but even that was lucky, for the German wanderer, Max, had run off with Bingham’s wallet.4 Bingham wrote Max out of his later account and blamed the theft on de Dios instead.

Juan de Dios was an excellent guide, though, and kept the expedition from disaster when Bingham insisted that they leave the road and go through the swamps. Bingham claimed they took the detour to stay in Bolívar’s footsteps, but it was also because he wanted to meet some “savages.” They didn’t have to wait long before a small party of partially clad Yaruros—a displaced Indian people that subsisted by hunting—approached their camp bearing spears, bows, and arrows. Nero and Harvey claimed they “were about to be eaten alive,” but again the danger was more imagined than real. The worst it got was when one of the Yaruro’s “vixens” almost threw two handfuls of cow dung at Bingham.

The “Indios bravos” proved friendly and helped the expedition cross the region’s rivers in exchange for small trade goods. It was Bingham and Rice who were dangerous, tightly wound white men with Winchesters, raised on Frederic Remington images of noble cowboys and savage Indians. Bingham would soon have his own violent run-in, and Rice would become famous in the 1920s for turning his rifles on a tribe in Brazil. After seeing a “naked savage” running through the underbrush across a river, Rice’s men would open fire, at which point 200 “Huge Cannibals” threw up a cry. Rice and his men would escape unhurt, but they did kill several of their attackers.5

The dangers on this trip were real but largely of the explorers’ own making. Bingham’s quest for historical accuracy almost got them killed. During their long detour in the swamps, they ran out of food, and Bingham had to hunt tough, gamey birds so they wouldn’t starve. Rice and de Dios, the guide, were furious at the unnecessary danger and finally hauled the party out with a grueling twelve-hour march through piranha-infested waters. Hiram, however, was having a terrific time. He flashed his guns at a tavern keeper in order to get fed. Later on the trail, when four other travelers saw that Bingham was armed, they made sure their knives and revolvers were on display before riding by. “It made me feel like a brig-and,” Hiram wrote jauntily.

His joy only grew upon reaching the foothills of the Andes. They peered up the green valleys, rising into dark folds, topped by distant blue-white glaciers. At first, they filled Hiram with nostalgia for Hawaii, but the closer he got, the more foreign and old they seemed. The expedition arrived in one small town at the mountains’ base on Good Friday. They watched as the congregation processed from the church and shuffled around the plaza, lit by small candles, wreathed in incense.

The pleasure was fleeting. On Easter Sunday, Hiram received a telegram from his in-laws, telling him that Alfreda had fallen ill with malaria while awaiting his return in Jamaica, where the Mitchells had a residence. Hiram felt awful. He had been away for nearly five months and missed his family.

Resolving never to be apart from his family for so long again, he rallied Rice, and they left the very next day, April 5, to begin their climb into the steep, rainy Andes, up rocky stairs, past orchid gatherers, and, for the first time, Andean Indians planting maize. The hardest part of the journey was a two-day traverse of the Paramo of Pisva, a section of the “cold, damp wilderness” occupying the 13,000-foot high summit of the cordillera. This was the route that the Spaniards thought Bolívar’s army would never clear. It did not disappoint. It was bleak, absent of animal life, and covered with coarse grass, thorny plants, and “sloughs of despond.” They picked their way around small freezing lakes in which their Indian guides said the Spanish hid treasure while fleeing Bolívar. The cloud-hidden hills surrounding them were actually Andean peaks 14,000 feet above sea level. Bingham and Rice made it to the grassy farmland below, but only after abandoning the Caribbean crewmen, whose mules had died. Nero and Harvey shivered through a night without fire, shelter, or food but “came limping down the valley” the next morning.

They had crossed the Andes, but it proved the expedition’s breaking point. On April 21, they reached the main highway to Bogota, Colombia’s capital, and Rice left Bingham behind, “owing to Bingham’s conduct.” To their fellow explorers, he claimed that Bingham was incompetent.6 They never spoke to each other again, nor would either one co-lead another expedition.

Bingham rode on, hurried and tense, so eager to get to Bogota that he all but ignored one of the most interesting clues of his first expedition. On the road, a local man told Bingham that in the distance lay a “treasure lake.” It was there that the “ancient kings of Tunja took their annual gold baths and threw objects of gold,” said the local. A foreign company was now trying to drain the lake. Did the gringo want to investigate?

The gringo did not. It was a fascinating snippet of information, but he had heard about treasure lakes all through Colombia and thought them just another myth about the supposed civilization and lasting wealth of indigenous peoples in the Americas. He may have thought it a tall tale better left to the gullible readers of dime novels and the many sketchy early-twentieth-century newspaper reports of lost treasure in South America.7 He noted the anecdote in his journal and rode on. For all his open-mindedness regarding Spanish American history, he still didn’t think the region’s indigenous people were worth studying on their own.

Of course, the hemisphere’s Indians did have a rich culture and civilization, past and present. Even more ironic, in this case the legend was true. The lake was none other than Guatavita, where the revered leader of the Muisca peoples once covered himself in gold dust, swam or paddled to the lake’s center, and dropped offerings into the water’s depths. The legend of El Rey Dorado, the Golden King, became El Dorado, the mythical kingdom of gold sought for centuries in the jungles of South America. Hundreds, if not thousands, of wild-eyed conquistadors and explorers had ruined their reputations, gone mad, or died searching for it, from Sir Walter Raleigh to Lope de Aguirre.

Guatavita itself was no myth. In the seventeenth century, a Spaniard drained it a few feet and found gold discs and emeralds in the mud. An 1856 effort at another nearby lake recovered a “golden figure of the chief and ten attendants on a raft.” The latest effort began in 1898, when an Englishman named Hartley Knowles bought out a group of Colombians. By 1907, when Bingham rode by, Knowles was cutting channels to drain it entirely. In 1912, Knowles would put 62 lots of gold ornaments, snakes, and golden masks up for auction at Sotheby’s in London.8 The following year, in a Fifth Avenue hotel, Knowles would tell a New York Times reporter that he had found $20,000 worth of treasure. He clutched what remained in a cigar box. “El Dorado,” he said softly. “El Dorado, after centuries. The gifts of the golden man. The treasure of the sacred lake.”9

It was almost too good to be true. Given that Knowles was looking for buyers, it might not have been. But by 1913, Hiram Bingham would be paying attention. Upon his return to the U.S. he began work on a photograph-laden book about the trip, Journal of an Expedition Across Venezuela and Colombia. His writing was good, if sensational—the New York Times teased his tendency to exaggerate their peril—and Bingham was made a fellow of the hallowed Royal Geographic Society.10 For the rest of his life, Bingham included the prestigious “F.R.G.S.” after his name in Who’s Who in America and listed his primary occupation as “explorer.”

The title was not enough, however. To be able to judge Knowles as a charlatan or a real discoverer, Bingham needed one more journey to South America. His next one would take him to Peru, where lost cities were as fantastic as El Dorado and as real as Guatavita—and where there was far more at stake than how Bolívar crossed a mountain.


Chapter Five

Cuzco, the Navel of the World

Before traveling to South America, Hiram was a tiny cog in Princeton’s academic machine. When he returned in the spring of 1907, the bolts binding him fell away. Upon reaching Bogota, he had learned that Alfreda’s health had improved. Now, after a tearful reunion, Alfreda handed him the letter for which he had been waiting seven years: Yale University President Arthur Hadley had finally found him a job. Because Yale’s History Department remained skeptical of Bingham’s qualifications, it was only a temporary appointment as a lecturer in the graduate school. It came with a meager honorarium, meaning that Hiram would have to keep living off his wife’s allowance. It was unflattering, but because it was the first opportunity in U.S. academia “implying the authority to teach the History and Geography of South America as a specialty,” Bingham took the chance. He declared “a triumph over conservative prejudice” in a letter to his father.

Hiram treated it as a calling: to prepare Yale men to take up the mantle of development and civilization in the hemisphere. “I suppose it is in my blood to wish to strike into untrod fields and take up burdens that others are not trying to lift,” he wrote to his father. “Lux et Veritas”—Yale’s vaunted ‘Light and Truth’—“is then the proper motto for me.”1 His classes were one part history, one part geography, and one part jingoism, as his first final exam laid bare: “What Spanish American countries offer (1) excellent, (2) fair, (3) poor opportunities for (a) a Mining Engineer. (b) a Soldier of Fortune. (c) a Capitalist. (d) an average Yale graduate with good health and a capital of $5,000?”2 Full professors whispered about their rich young colleague’s gravitas, but the students liked him. One called his course “useful—which most history courses are not.”3

Hadley had also hired Hiram to raise the university’s profile in the field of exploration. Hungry for a discovery that would make him famous, Hiram was happy to oblige. When he heard that the United States would be fielding its first delegation to the next Pan-American Scientific Congress in Chile, he saw his chance. He would retrace Spanish trade routes in the southern Andes, from Argentina, land of the tango and cowboy gauchos, up to Bolivia, the indigenous peak of the continent. After breaking his journey in Chile to represent Yale at the conference, he would go on to Lima, the capital of Peru. He would be more practical this time, taking trains when it was convenient, traveling with one person at most, all the while looking for places in which his students could invest. His role model, President Roosevelt, had cooled down his militarism in his second term; there was still an empire to build, but one of business, knowledge, and culture, not military force. This time, Hiram would leave the guns at home.

In June 1908, Hiram and his fellow delegates met President Roosevelt at the White House. It pleased the thirty-three-year-old to no end to be counted among such pillars of America’s international ambitions: Col. William C. Gorgas, who beat back malaria and yellow fever in Panama, permitting the construction of the canal; William Henry Holmes from the Bureau of American Ethnology, the hemisphere’s leading expert on the antiquity of man; Bingham’s mentor at Berkeley, Bernard Moses, back from the Philippines; and Dr. Leo S. Rowe, who would lay the foundations of the Organization of American States, the United Nations of the western hemisphere. In front of the massive globe in the corner of his hero’s office, Bingham shook Roosevelt’s hand, making it clear—if it wasn’t already—that he explored under America’s flag.

Hiram spent that summer with his family—five sons now—and his father, Hiram Bingham Jr., who had come to the mainland to recover from a stroke. For his birthday, his son made a kind gesture: they went to church together for the first time in years. Hiram Jr. fell ill afterward, and his son waited for him to leave the hospital before he boarded a steamer and weighed anchor for South America.

While Hiram was at sea, his father relapsed and died alone. Hiram would not find out for months, trailed by the letter from his wife that broke the news. “Do not form the habit of living your life without me,” she underlined.4 When he found out, however, his reaction was private and muted. He could only keep exploring. The Andes was his future, and his family seemed to plunge into the ocean behind him.

Hiram Bingham braced himself as the teeth-rattling eight-horse stagecoach left the Bolivian border town of Quiaca, picking up speed as it bounced along the high desert of the southern Andes. Hiram clutched the coach’s side, praying he wouldn’t be sick before the next town, but he was happy to be on his way.

He and his traveling partner, a Yale student named Huntington “Coot” Smith Jr., had taken the train from Buenos Aires up the dusty pampas to Bolivia. On the border, they traded their city clothes for riding gear but to little effect. In a wide pancake hat and a woolen Bolivian poncho, Bingham’s clean boots and long frame stuck out even more. In Quiaca, two “rough-looking Anglo-Saxons” sat down with the Yale men, uninvited. Quietly, but with a note of intimidation, they began to talk about the highway robbers that haunted Bolivian roads, “driven out of the United States by the force of law and order and hounded to death all over the world by Pinkerton detectives,” the private army of agents that broke strikes and guaranteed American industry’s profits against theft.5 Bingham and Coot were relieved when the stagecoach arrived.

In the next town, Hiram and Coot learned that they had literally dodged a bullet. The two roughnecks were bandits themselves, likely accomplices to two other American bandits who had robbed a cart carrying a silver mine’s payroll the week before. Bolivian soldiers had cornered the latter pair—one was indeed on the run from the Pinkertons—in a lodging house. When the smoke cleared, the two bandits were buried in anonymous graves, each body a half dozen bullets heavier.

Bingham wrote the story down, not realizing its larger significance. Modern writers Anne Meadows and Daniel Buck, however, believe that the two men killed by the Bolivians were none other than the famed stick-up artists Robert LeRoy Parker and Harry Alonzo Longabaugh, also known as Butch Cassidy and the Sundance Kid.6 The pair had been living in the area at the time, and Bingham’s story corroborates several rumors of their death. And in an even stranger turn, Bingham bought one of their mules. “When his former owner had had the benefit of his fleet legs and his splendid lungs, there was no question of his being caught by the Bolivian soldiery,” the lecturer later mused, not realizing his brush with yet another legend of the Americas.

Hiram soon had his own chance to test out the mule’s “fleet legs.” In a rural inn at 13,015 feet, a few miles outside the old silver-mining city of Potosí, Bingham had a fierce attack of soroche—altitude sickness—and decided to leave and seek a doctor. The Quechua Indian innkeeper refused one of Bingham’s bills, saying that it was from an untrustworthy bank. The denial unnerved the American: “The idea of having a servile [Quechua] decline to receive good money was irritating, and I tried my best, notwithstanding my soroche, to force him to take it.” Bingham tried another bill, but his hand was trembling with “chill or excitement” and he tore it. The Indian refused that one as well; Bingham rolled up the first bill, threw it, and bolted. The Indian ran after him, grabbed Bingham’s bridle, and tried to halt his flight. Furious, Bingham rode the innkeeper against a wall until he let go. Bingham unrepentantly included the story in his next book. “I fully expected that he would follow us with stones or something worse, but as he was only a [Quechua] he accepted the inevitable and we saw no more of him.”

Hiram continued on to the Pan-American Scientific Congress in Santiago, Chile, where he revealed what he had learned thus far about the history of South America. He declared Quechua-speaking Indians a “backward race” that made it easy to understand how the “brave, bigoted, courageous” conquistadors had defeated the Incas. By contrast, the Spaniards had achieved a “marvelously rapid conquest of America.” All their modern heirs lacked was the “sense of racial unity” that made the United States possible, Bingham declared.

But Bingham’s race-based understanding of history—and the direction of his life—were about to receive a stinging blow. In Bolivia, he had seen the interesting but heavily looted ruins of Tiahuanaco and inspected a copy of a very interesting book by E. G. Squier, an American diplomat who had explored the southern Andes of Peru in the 1860s. Squier was an excellent draftsman, and his drawings of the Incas’ rope bridges and ruins fascinated Bingham. He had planned to take a ship straight from Santiago to Lima, Peru’s capital, when the meetings and endless speeches were over. Inspired, in January 1909 he instead disembarked in the southern Peruvian port of Mollendo. With his credentials as a delegate to the congress, he talked his way into a free ticket for a train that would take him 485 miles and 14,000 feet up into the Andes. He was headed for the land of the Incas. It was the detour that defined his life.

The country outside the train window had changed much since Peru won its independence from Spain in late 1824. For the first two decades, Peruvian strongmen fought over a country bereft of capital, agriculture, and mining infrastructure. Government funds came from poorly run customs houses and “tribute” from the country’s Indians.7 Charles Darwin visited in 1835 and marveled at the state’s seeming anarchy.

In the early 1840s, Peru tapped into an unorthodox gold mine: bird droppings. Peru’s coastal islands were loaded with phosphate- and nitrogen-rich guano, which Europe wanted for fertilizer and gunpowder. Peru became the biggest exporter in South America, allowing it to build up its wool, sugar, copper, and saltpeter industries. 

The country’s stability was built on false premises, however. The government passed liberal reforms that freed the country’s 20,000 slaves and eliminated indigenous tribute, but those reforms also separated many Indian peasants from their land. The money from guano concessions leached out to foreign firms and to the country’s lenders.8 When the guano boom went bust, Peru went deeper into debt, finally going bankrupt in 1870. The country reached its nadir in 1879, when British-backed Chile declared war on Peru’s ally, Bolivia. Because Peru and Bolivia had a secret alliance, the Chilean army invaded Peru as well. Before Peru surrendered in 1883, ceding its own southernmost province to Chile, the invading army looted Lima.

Although the war’s long-term loser was Bolivia, which lost its sea access, Peru’s indigenous peoples were also hit especially hard. They were the army’s first line, and many deserted to their villages, not wanting to fight in what they perceived as a white war. Some rebelled against their commanders. Still others formed their own peasant bands to fight the Chileans, but Peru’s coastal elites repressed and erased them from the historical record when the war was through.9 As one historian wrote years later: “The mixture of hatred, dismissal and fear that the great property holders—whites and coastal Peruvians—had towards the popular classes below them—Indians, Chinese and blacks—was identical to that which the Spanish conquistadors maintained towards the conquered Andean peoples.”10

To recover from the war, Peru’s elite political parties embraced a policy of near-total economic liberalization. American and British corporations received massive concessions to develop the country’s infrastructure, mineral wealth, and natural resources. Peru was once again on the lips of London and New York. By 1909, Peru’s economy had stabilized, and its elites were enjoying the glamour of “The Aristocratic Republic.”

For the half of Peru’s four to five million who were indigenous, that influx of wealth changed their status little and perhaps even worsened it.11 American companies employed their own private police forces at their mines, ensuring that their indigenous workers did not flee. British capital helped fund a rubber-collecting boom in eastern Peru. Some jungle tribes benefited from the rapid trade in Winchesters, axes, and human lives, but other entire tribes, particularly in the northern Putumayo region, were enslaved, tortured, and killed by employees of the rubber companies.

There was some hope, however. Since the mid-nineteenth century, Indian peasants in southern Peru periodically mobilized, rebelling against government officials and landowners. Others migrated to cities to escape the countryside and improve their station. Workers in urban areas were exposed to radical politics, formed unions, and in April 1911, for the first time in Peruvian history, they would go on strike. Seeing the danger and political opportunity, Peruvian President Augusto B. Leguía in 1909 passed a series of labor laws that prohibited government authorities from demanding free work from Indians and decreed that no one was “obliged” to work in mines. Whether they were effectual or not, the country’s intellectuals celebrated the country’s Andean roots and its noble “Quechua race,” sought to document abuses of rural Indians, and criticized the Eurocentric racism of Lima, the country’s outward-looking political capital. More importantly, they idolized the Andean, pre-Columbian, still-inhabited city that Bingham’s train now approached: Cuzco, or as the Inca chronicler Garcilaso de la Vega translated it, “The Navel of the World.”12

Hiram woke up on January 28, 1909, in the town of Checcacupe. Bleary-eyed, he met his traveling partner for the last leg of this epic journey through the Andes. His name was Clarence Hay, and he was the twenty-four-year-old secretary for the U.S. delegation to Chile. His father was John Hay, the U.S. Secretary of State who died in 1905, having helped Roosevelt build America into a world power. While Clarence and Hiram talked, the train chugged down the track, entering the 11,600-foot-high Huatanay Valley. Slopes of thick cornstalks and blue-green potato plants swept by; the red earth and purple stone shone after the rains. Bingham was struck by the golden quality of the light and the apparent happiness of the people.

He was as enchanted as the Incas had been when they themselves reached the valley centuries before. According to the Incas’ great origin story, their ancestors established Cuzco when the legendary Inca founder Manco Capac reached a land where he could drive his golden staff into the ground. Above the staff Manco Capac built Cuzco and its Temple of the Sun, Ccoricancha.13 Beyond the legend, scholars in 1909 believed that a megalithic people of some great antiquity, responsible for the Andes’ most massive stonework, had preceded or overlapped with the Incas at Cuzco.

Today, scholars recognize the myth-making quality of the Incas’ histories and suggest that the Incas arrived in the valley from near Lake Titicaca sometime in the twelfth century. Other cultures had spread throughout the Andes before them, but the Incas were unique. Around 1440, while Spain was attempting its own reconquest of the Iberian peninsula, a nearby people named the Chancas invaded the Huatanay, nearly conquering the Incas. A leader named Pachacutec—whose name in Quechua meant ‘Earthshaker’ or ‘World-Changer’—pushed them back, expanding Inca territory well beyond its defensive perimeter.14

Under Pachacutec, the Incas swept along the Andes. A master architect and state planner, he marked his conquests with new fortresses and religious structures tied together by roads and storehouses. If an ethnic group resisted, they were brutally defeated and relocated. As long as they agreed to speak Quechua and worship the sun—whose earthbound host, conveniently enough, was the emperor himself—they were treated kindly. Unlike their predecessors in Central America, the Olmec and the Maya, the Incas had not developed writing, but their braided khipus (or quipus) kept a tight accounting of their assets and schedules. The empire was highly stratified, but the Incas collected and allocated labor, food, and goods in a manner that would later be likened, perhaps overzealously, to agrarian socialism.

When Pachacutec died, his heirs carried on his ambitions. Inca succession was perfect for expansion: the emperor’s heir inherited his title but not his lands or palaces, fueling further conquest along the Andes.15 When the Spanish arrived, Tawantinsuyo, or the land of the four quarters, was 2,500 miles long. The northwest quarter, Chinchaysuyu, extended to modern Colombia; southwestern Cuntisuyu extended to Chile; Collasuyu extended southeast through Bolivia to northern Argentina; and to the northeast was the mysterious Antisuyu, where the eastern slopes of Andes melted into the Amazon jungle. It was a kingdom larger than any other on earth at the time—“as if a single power held sway from St. Petersburg to Cairo,” journalist Charles C. Mann has suggested.16

While Inca power spiraled out, wealth flowed in. The Incas considered gold and silver holy and used the “sweat of the sun and tears of the moon” in Cuzco, their empire’s sacred capital. Each emperor built a stone palace in which his gold-draped mummy resided after he died. They covered their plaza with seashells and tiny golden and silver llamas. Canals and channels gave the city running water. The gold-covered walls of the sun temple Ccoricancha were mounted with torches, filling the city with a warm glow at night.

Eager to see what remained, Bingham and Hay stared out the window as their train pulled into a makeshift station a quarter mile south of the city. Cuzco’s prefect—the most powerful government official in this corner of the Andes—hustled the two honored delegates from the Pan-American Scientific Congress into a carriage. Rattling up an “ill-kept avenue” lined with alder trees, Bingham saw Santo Domingo, the monastery the Spaniards built atop of Ccoricancha. The gold that once covered the Sun temple, of course, was long gone. After the Spaniards landed in Peru in 1532, they were drawn to the city’s wealth like bees to pollen. As John Hemming put it, “the sack of Cuzco was one of the very rare moments in world history when conquerors pillaged at will the capital of a great empire.” The Indians wept as they watched the Spaniards melt down seven hundred four-and-a-half-pound plates of gold from Ccoricancha, a whole garden of silver plants and animals, and a massive gold altar. The looting shocked even the Spanish priests. “Their only concern was to collect gold and silver to make themselves all rich without thinking that they were doing wrong and were wrecking and destroying,” wrote one. “For what was being destroyed was more perfect than anything they enjoyed and possessed.”17

But there was a limit to what the Spaniards could topple. Hiram could see that the city’s buildings were colonial in their exteriors—red-tiled roofs, wooden balconies, and whitewashed walls. But when their carriage stopped in the Plaza del Regocijo, he would have seen the building facing their hotel: a massive house that had belonged to the family of the Inca chronicler Garcilaso de la Vega. Its front was colonial, but its foundation, like so many of the buildings in the city center, was Inca: massive boulders still so tightly joined that not even a pin could be forced between them. When earthquakes shook the Spanish halves of buildings to pieces, these indigenous foundations remained in place.

Hiram and Hay woke the next morning to a city that only recently had shaken off the neglect of the nineteenth century, when wealth and power flowed from the provinces to Lima and Cuzco was relegated to the past. The city’s population hovered at about 19,000, with a quarter identified as white, a quarter as Indian, and about half as mestizos.18 Although a class of merchants and industrialists had developed in the last several decades, the city still resembled a pyramid whose tiny peak was a mostly white class of elite landowners who shuttled between their homes near the plaza and the haciendas they owned in nearby valleys. Their wealth was built on the pyramid’s indigenous base, the Quechua-speaking peasants who cultivated coffee, sugar cane, cacao, pineapples, avocados, bananas, papaya, and the chewable coca leaf. In the city, they were servants, water carriers, and porters. They were earthy, hard-working, and hard-drinking people who spent long hours alongside the growing middle class in bars, drinking chicha, the same sacred, sour, and frothy corn beer enjoyed by the Incas. To relieve themselves, they shuffled into Cuzco’s quiet, narrow cobblestone streets and used the thin canals that ran down the center of the street, just as the Incas had. Traffic moved no faster than a coach or mule train. “Barring festivals or special occasions, the streets were desolate and calm, breathing with a peaceful and lethargic atmosphere,” one Cuzco son recalled. Every night, lamplighters climbed ladders and put out the gas lanterns, dissipating the city’s hazy, yellow glow.19

For the next three days, Hiram took in as much of the place as he could. He visited the city’s many Catholic churches, but then left them to run his fingers across the Incan walls across the street. He haggled with colorfully dressed indigenous market women for souvenirs for his family. He avoided the open sewers—he thought the city was filthy—and photographed fountains that supposedly had been in use since the Incas. He visited the city’s central plaza where, he was told, the Spanish executed an Inca revolutionary named Tupac Amaru. Bingham was fascinated by the city’s antiquity. No other city of the Americas so displayed the hemisphere’s history, both ancient and modern.

Hiram visited the University of San Antonio Abad del Cuzco, which sat alongside the baroque Jesuit church on the central plaza. He thought the school “rather squalid by comparison with the church” but was impressed by its age. There had been a university in Cuzco since 1598—“thirty-eight years before Harvard College.” He met with the school’s rector, who was kind, if a little sleepy, and he learned that the school’s goal was to prepare Cuzco’s upper-middle-class sons for gentlemanly careers in law.

Bingham had visited in the midst of vacations, however. Had he waited until the students returned, he might have met a nineteen-year-old university student named Luis E. Valcárcel, who had a rather different estimation of the school and the city surrounding it. The son of merchants who moved to Cuzco in the late nineteenth century, Valcárcel’s middle-class upbringing gave him the comfort to consider a career beyond business. He was passionate and impetuous enough to get himself challenged to duels twice in his youth, but he was also a scholar. Pincenez perched on his nose, beetle-black hair combed back, he read everywhere— at breakfast, in the bathroom, in the street—harboring dreams of a life of study. If his family had enough money, they might have sent him to Lima, or even Europe, to learn from the great scientists of the day. Instead, they enrolled him at the University of Cuzco.

Yet the university was not the academic monastery Valcárcel expected. Its professors were lackadaisical, unafraid to skip their own classes. They were scholarly but “knew little about the problems of the regions and its inhabitants.”20 Valcárcel and his classmates had seen more changes in the past four years than their parents’ had in their lifetime, and he and his fellow students wanted more. First had come the telegraph. Then in 1905 the city got telephone service. Around the same time a second semiregular newspaper was founded, El Sol, which was as radical as the older El Comercio was sober. In September 1908, after forty years of planning, came the greatest innovation of all: the railroad. Valcárcel would always remember how the screech of the first train—named “The Conquistador,” ironically enough—cut through the city’s air, echoing off the surrounding ridges.21 He and his fellow students abandoned their classrooms to run down and join the massive crowd cheering at the tracks, where the arriving wagons, brakemen, and engineers, mostly English, seemed so strange, “something like Martians in our imaginations.”

The railroad brought goods, commerce, and further advances in technology to Cuzco—in another decade an Italian aviator would be the first to fly to the Inca city from Lima—but it also brought ideas, a new sense of “modernity,” and one of the greatest factors of Cuzco’s twentieth-century history: tourists.22 Increasingly aware of how outsiders viewed their city, Valcárcel and his fellow students began to grumble about their lackluster education. While Bingham met with the university’s rector for tea, the students were in Cuzco’s chicha bars, arguing over why the region was underdeveloped. Many blamed the landowners and their abuse of the Indian population. Others blamed it on elite complacency and a lack of pride in the past. Cuzco was “the only city of America where all time periods and civilizations exist,” Valcárcel later declared, but his teachers were little interested in investigating their city’s history using “modern” methods.23

What his discontent amounted to, however, was yet to be seen. Valcárcel and the fellow members of his generation were “without a doubt, not only the most brilliant that Cuzco produced in the twentieth century, but also the most influential,” wrote one later historian.24 Over the next two decades they helped shape a movement named indigenismo, which championed the study and protection of Indians and Incan history. Their attitudes would change the way Cuzco looked at its history, understood its present, and faced its future. But in early 1909, they were still waiting for the fight that they would make their own—one in which a certain explorer would play his part.

On their last day in the city, Hiram and Hay borrowed mules from Cuzco’s prefect and rode up the steep streets into the northern quarter of the city. At the city limits, they spurred their beasts up a ravine. Higher and higher they climbed, until they made one final turn in the path and rode through a gateway twelve feet tall, made of massive boulders. Behind them, Cuzco stretched out like a careworn textile, tumbling red roofs broken by dozing streets and squares of gray and brown. And before them stretched one of the most incredible structures Bingham had ever seen: Sacsayhuaman, an Inca fortress and religious complex a third of a mile long. Three massive and zigzagging walls, stacked on each other like terraces, had once protected it from attackers. Each wall was built of “colossal boulders, some of them twelve feet in diameter.” The tallest stones, as far as Bingham could see, were twenty-five feet high. He could hardly comprehend how its builders fit them in place. “There are few sights in the world more impressive than these Cyclopean walls,” he wrote.

It reminded Hiram of the massive temples and beautifully jointed walls of Pacific peoples—on Easter Island, in the Carolinas, and in Hawaii. He had grown up hearing about the “heathen” complexes that his grandfather all but danced upon. But while his grandfather had felt joy in their ruin, Hiram felt something new: sadness and awe. Sadness that Cuzco’s residents had pulled apart many of the site’s smaller walls to build the city below. But awe at the beauty, solidity, and grandness of what remained. His parents had raised him to look at the native peoples of the world with a patronizing pity; it was only after native peoples found Jesus Christ that they would become civilized. Sacsayhuaman and Cuzco, however, told a different story: that the people of the Americas were civilized enough when Europeans arrived, and that something beautiful, not pitiable, was lost in their subjugation. As a historian, Hiram had studied the revolutionaries who struggled against Spain. Now, he wondered if he had gotten it wrong—whether the true fight for the Americas came before, when the conquistadors clashed with the Incas under this fortress’s walls. Sacsayhuaman was “the most impressive spectacle of man’s handiwork that I have ever seen in America,” Bingham wrote. He wanted more.
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